IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 79208

Electronically Filed
Feb 03 2020 12:46 p.m.
Nevada State Education Association; National Education Association Ass

v.

Clark County Education Association; John Vellardita; and Victoria Courtney, Respondents.

Appeal from Final Judgment and Dissolution of Injunction District Court Case No. A-17-761884-C Eighth Judicial District Court of Nevada

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Robert Alexander (pro hac vice)
Matthew Clash-Drexler (pro hac vice)
Georgina Yeomans (pro hac vice)
Bredhoff & Kaiser PLLC
805 15th St. NW, Suite 1000
Washington, D.C. 20005
(202) 842-2600
ralexander@bredhoff.com
mcdrexler@bredhoff.com
gyeomans@bredhoff.com

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The district court entered judgment on all claims brought by the Appellants (the "NSEA Parties") on July 1, 2019, and notice of entry of the judgment was served on July 3, 2019. The NSEA Parties filed their notice of appeal on July 15, 2019. The notice of appeal was timely under NRAP 4(a)(1), and appellate jurisdiction exists under NRAP 3A(b)(1). While an action brought by respondents Clark County Education Association ("CCEA"), John Vellardita, and Victoria Courtney (collectively, the "CCEA Parties") (Case No. A-17-761364-C) was consolidated with this case (Case No. A-17-761884-C), and is still pending before the district court, there has been an appealable final judgment in this case, over which the Court has appellate jurisdiction. *See In re Estate of Sarge*, 134 Nev. 866, 870-71, 423 P.3d 718, 722 (2018).

In addition, this Court has jurisdiction to review, pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(3), the district court's July 3, 2019 dissolution of an injunction put into place on May 10, 2018.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case presents issues of statewide importance regarding the interpretation of a major state public-sector labor union's bylaws. Specifically, this case addresses the local affiliate's obligation to transmit to the state affiliate the membership dues paid by over 10,000 teachers and other school employees for the benefits of their

unified membership in the local, state and national unions. This case also presents the Court an opportunity to establish Nevada jurisprudence on settled common law doctrines of contract interpretation and conversion. As a result, the case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court. *See* NRAP 17(a)(12).

INTRODUCTION

This case involves contract and tort claims arising from a dispute between a local labor union and its state and national affiliates over the transmittal of membership dues paid by Clark County School District ("CCSD") employees. During the pertinent period at issue here, the local, state, and national unions had unified membership, meaning that employees joined all three unions and authorized the payment of dues to the local, state, and national affiliates for their membership in each. Members authorized payment of their unified dues by payroll deduction to the local union, Clark County Education Association ("CCEA"), which by contract was obligated to transmit the state and national dues portions to the state affiliate, Nevada State Education Association ("NSEA"). In turn, NSEA transmitted the national dues portion to the national affiliate, the National Education Association ("NEA").

Between August 2017 and April 2018, CCEA collected the state and national dues of CCSD employees (totaling \$4,131,738.47) but did not transmit those dues to either the state or national affiliate. This lawsuit followed. Eight months after

CCEA ceased transmitting the state and national portion of the dues paid by members, CCEA voted on April 25, 2018 to disaffiliate from NEA and NSEA.

The following four documents define the contractual obligations between and among CCEA, NSEA and NEA pertinent to this case:

- 1. The NSEA Bylaws, which, *inter alia*, obligate local affiliates like CCEA to maintain a dues transmittal agreement. VII(1104-05, Art. VIII § 3(F)).
- 2. The NEA Bylaws, which mandate that local affiliates "shall require membership in the [NEA] and in its state or local affiliate where eligible," and which also require local affiliates to transmit state and NEA dues. VII(1211-12, Sec. 8-7).
- 3. A Dues Transmittal Agreement ("Transmittal Agreement") entered into in 1979 between CCEA (then known as CCCTA) and NSEA, in which CCEA was designated as NSEA's "authorized agent for the purpose of collecting and transmitting NSEA and NEA dues." IV(623-26). The Transmittal Agreement committed CCEA to "collect or cause to be collected NSEA/NEA dues from NSEA/NEA members and [to] transmit or have transmitted all NSEA/NEA dues." IV(623).
- 4. A Service Agreement entered into in 1999 between NSEA and CCEA (the "Service Agreement"), which, among other things, detailed the

funding NSEA would provide to CCEA and how the parties would cooperate and coordinate to advance members' interests. The Service Agreement expressly stated that the Transmittal Agreement "between [NSEA] and CCEA is continued without change." IV(628-31).

The district court interpreted the NSEA and NEA Bylaws and the Transmittal and Service Agreements contrary to basic contract principles and ruled that, as a matter of law, CCEA had no obligation to transmit to NSEA the national and state dues that it collected from August 2017 until its April 2018 disaffiliation. The district court incorrectly concluded that CCEA had unilaterally terminated the Transmittal Agreement and, according to the district court, that termination voided CCEA's other contractual obligations to continue to transmit NSEA and NEA dues while CCEA remained affiliated with NSEA and NEA. The district court's reasoning does not withstand scrutiny, and its decision should be reversed. The plain contract language and basic principles of conversion law require that summary judgment for NEA and NSEA be entered instead.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the record permitted the District Court to find, as a matter of law, that CCEA terminated the Transmittal Agreement where:
 - a. CCEA gave notice only of its intent to terminate the separate, later-executed, Service Agreement;

- b. The Service Agreement stated expressly that the Transmittal Agreement "is continued without change"; and
- c. The NSEA Bylaws, which control any conflicting
 Transmittal Agreement provisions, expressly mandated that local
 affiliates like CCEA maintain a dues collection and transmittal
 agreement.
- 2. Whether CCEA breached the NSEA Bylaws and NEA Bylaws, both of which require that local affiliates have in place a dues transmittal agreement, by:
 - a. CCEA's purported termination of the Transmittal

 Agreement without entering into a successor agreement; and
 - b. CCEA's refusal to remit NSEA and NEA dues that CCEA had collected from CCEA/NSEA/NEA union members.
- 3. Whether the district court erred in holding that CCEA's duties under the NEA and NSEA Bylaws expired on September 1, 2017, the date CCEA purported to terminate the Transmittal Agreement, even though CCEA did not disaffiliate from NEA and NSEA until April 25, 2018.
- 4. Whether keeping and refusing to remit to NSEA monies CCEA collected from union members to satisfy their NSEA and NEA dues obligations, monies to which CCEA disclaimed any rights, constitutes conversion of NSEA and NEA's dues and unjustly enriched CCEA.

5. Whether CCEA's representation to the district court that it would pay back to the individual plaintiff teachers the monies it obtained through fraudulent inducement renders the teachers' fraud claims legally deficient.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The NSEA Parties brought this suit in September 2017 following CCEA's failure to remit the NSEA and NEA union dues CCEA collected. I(12, 53-66). The NSEA Parties asserted claims for breach of contract, conversion, unjust enrichment, and fraud in the inducement. *See id*.

In May 2018, the district court (Judge Kishner) entered an order that required CCEA to maintain the NSEA and NEA dues collected during the August 2017 to April 2018 time period (the "Disputed Dues") in a restricted account (the "Restricted Account") that could not be used by CCEA until further order of the court ("the Injunction"). III(514-19). CCEA eventually deposited \$4,131,738.47 into the Restricted Account. V(800).

On the parties' motions for summary judgment, and through orders entered December 20, 2018, and July 3, 2019, the district court (Judge Earley) granted summary judgment to CCEA Parties on all claims brought by the NSEA Parties. VI(1018-1029), IX(1551-1569). The district court also granted the CCEA Parties' motion to alter or amend the Injunction but, after further motion practice, stayed that order pending appeal. IX(1574-83). This appeal involves the NSEA Parties'

challenge to the district court's summary judgment rulings and dissolution of the Injunction. IX(1570-73).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. The Parties and their Relationships

A. The Teachers' Membership in CCEA, NSEA, and NEA

NEA is a nationwide professional-employee organization that represents education professionals throughout the country. VII(1125 ¶¶ 3-4, 1186 ¶ 8). It acts as the parent union to approximately 52 state affiliates and 15,370 local affiliates. VII(1186 ¶ 8). NSEA is the Nevada-state affiliate of NEA. VII(1104). For at least four decades, CCEA was a local affiliate of NSEA and NEA. VII(1125-26 ¶¶ 3-5). CCEA was and remains the collective bargaining representative of educational professionals in the Clark County School District ("CCSD"). VII(1125 ¶ 3). On April 26, 2018, after a vote of its membership, CCEA informed NEA and NSEA of its disaffiliation from NEA and NSEA. VII(1126 ¶ 5, 1130).

At the time this lawsuit was filed in 2017, Plaintiffs/Appellants Ruben Murillo, Jr., Robert Benson, Diane Di Archangel, and Jason Wyckoff, like approximately 10,000 other employees in the CCSD, were members of the three affiliated unions (NEA at the national level, NSEA at the state level, and CCEA at the local level). III(555-57), VI(1036 ¶ 5), VII(1224 ¶ 5). During the relevant period, NEA, NSEA, and CCEA had operated within a unified membership structure, which

means that teachers joining CCEA or another NEA local affiliate union also joined the state (NSEA) and national (NEA) affiliate. VII(1054 \P 4, 1186 \P 7). Through their membership in NEA and its affiliates, the teachers were entitled to all the rights and benefits of this unified membership. VII(1054 \P 4), VI(1039-46).

As members of the unified organizations, the teachers were obligated to pay annual dues for their membership in each. VII(1125 ¶ 4). The organizations' membership year corresponded to the school year and ran from September 1 to August 31. VII(1066, 1092, 1126 ¶ 6, 1195). Members had the option to pay dues either as an annual lump sum at the beginning of the membership year or incrementally through semi-monthly payroll deduction installments. VII(1126).

Members joined NEA/NSEA/CCEA through a Membership Authorization Form by which members committed to pay their annual union dues (as well as any other voluntary contributions to which members agreed). III(552-57), VI(1003). If they chose to pay their annual dues through incremental payroll deduction (as nearly all did), they so indicated on the Membership Authorization Form, which directed CCSD to deduct from their paychecks each pay period the pro rata dues assessed by the three unified organizations and to remit those dues to CCEA. *Id.* The Membership Authorization Form prominently identified NEA and NSEA and noted that, while the dues payroll deduction included an incremental option, membership

was annual, and teachers were obligated to pay the annual dues regardless of whether their membership continued throughout the school year. *Id*.

B. The Relationships Among NEA, NSEA and CCEA

1. The Affiliation Relationship

The NEA unified membership structure was established by the bylaws of each of the three organizations, which the parties acknowledge are enforceable contracts. I(87 ¶ 26), IV(589 ¶¶ 60-64). While CCEA was affiliated with NEA and NSEA, the CCEA Bylaws made "evidence of membership in NSEA and NEA" a precondition of teachers' CCEA membership and required CCEA to conform with the bylaws of NEA and NSEA. VII(1065, 1084). The NSEA Bylaws require that "[a]ctive members of the NSEA shall also be members of the [NEA] and of a local association where available." VII(1091). And the NEA Bylaws mandate that local affiliates "shall require membership in the NEA and in its state or local affiliate where eligible." VII(1212, Sec. 8-11).

This unified membership structure is not unique to Nevada. Each of NEA's state and local affiliates operates according to the unified membership structure established by the organizations' governing documents. VII(1186 ¶ 8). As in Nevada, members of each of these local affiliates are also members of the state affiliate and of NEA. *Id.* And each of these local affiliates follows the same dues transmittal process: per the NEA Bylaws, the local association collects dues on

behalf of itself, the state affiliate, and NEA and then transmits the state and NEA dues to the state affiliate. VII(1186-87 ¶¶ 7-14, 1199-1200).

The NEA Bylaws also provide for the efficient and prompt payment and distribution of member dues among the three levels of affiliates. Section 2-9 of the NEA Bylaws requires local affiliates to serve as collection agents for unified membership dues and sets forth the general process governing dues transmittal. VII(1199-1200).

The NSEA bylaws similarly address the duties of affiliates to transmit dues. Article VIII, section 3 of the NSEA Bylaws provides that "NSEA shall affiliate a local association when it meets the following minimum standards . . . [h]ave a dues transmittal contract with NSEA." VII(1104-05). This affiliate obligation was added through a 2015 amendment, following on the heels of a 2014 dispute in which CCEA threatened to withhold the NSEA dues it had collected from members if NSEA did not provide CCEA additional financial support. VII(1056-57 ¶¶ 14-16, 1113); see also IV(649-50).

2. The NSEA-CCEA Dues Relationship

Consistent with the unified membership structure described above, before the events giving rise to this lawsuit, CCEA operated as a dues collection agent for NSEA and NEA. IV(623), VII(1055 ¶¶ 7-8). It collected the aggregate dues deducted from teachers' paychecks by CCSD, retained the portion representing its

own assessed dues, and remitted to NSEA the dues amounts assessed by NSEA and NEA. *Id.* NSEA then remitted the NEA dues to NEA. *Id.* This procedure was in place for decades.

Since 1979, this procedure was dictated by the Transmittal Agreement. *Id.*The Transmittal Agreement designated CCEA as NSEA's "authorized agent for the purpose of collecting and transmitting NSEA and NEA dues"; allowed CCEA to collect dues via payroll deductions; and committed CCEA to "collect or cause to be collected NSEA/NEA dues from NSEA/NEA members and [to] transmit or have transmitted all NSEA/NEA dues" to NSEA. IV(623). As to duration, the Transmittal Agreement provided that it would "remain in force for each subsequent membership year unless terminated in writing by either party prior to September 1 of any NSEA membership year, or amended by mutual consent of both parties." IV(625). The Transmittal Agreement also expressly provided that the Agreement would be automatically amended to conform to, and avoid conflict with, any subsequent NSEA Bylaws amendment. *Id*.

3. The NSEA-CCEA Service Relationship

As it did with other local affiliates that represented NSEA members, NSEA provided CCEA with various forms of support and assistance, memorialized in a separate contract between the two associations known as the "Service Agreement." IV(628-31). The Service Agreement contained various provisions that focused on

certain aspects of the NSEA-CCEA relationship, in particular, the funding NSEA would provide to CCEA. IV(628-31). The Service Agreement also addressed CCEA and NSEA's efforts to cooperate and coordinate to advance members' interests. *Id*.

The very first paragraph of the Service Agreement referenced the 1979 Dues Transmittal Agreement and expressly provided that "[t]he membership collecting and processing agreement of October 1979, between [NSEA] and CCEA is continued without change." IV(628) (emphasis added). The Transmittal Agreement was attached as an addendum to the Service Agreement. IV(632-35). The Service Agreement contained its own termination provisions, different from those in the Transmittal Agreement. Compare IV(631) with IV(634).

II. The Instant Dispute

On May 3, 2017, CCEA's Executive Director, John Vellardita, sent a letter to NSEA's Executive Director, Brian Lee, demanding to renegotiate the Service Agreement between the organizations so that CCEA could obtain additional resources from NSEA. IV(618 ¶ 24, 637). Mr. Vellardita also threatened to terminate the Service Agreement in the absence of it being renegotiated to CCEA's satisfaction. IV(637). The May 3, 2017 letter did not reference the Transmittal Agreement. *Id*.

On July 17, 2017, Vellardita sent a second letter to Lee, reiterating that "on May 3, 2017, CCEA served notice that it was terminating the Service Agreement

between CCEA and NSEA." IV(619 ¶ 25, 639). The July 17, 2017 letter further stated that "[t]his letter serves notice to NSEA that unless there is a successor agreement in place before the August 31, 2017 [sic] all terms and conditions of the agreement shall become null and void." IV(639). On August 3, 2017, Vellardita sent Lee a third letter, referencing again his May 3 letter that discussed terminating the Service Agreement. IV(619 ¶ 27, 641-42). The August 3, 2017 letter, like the previous two, did not reference the Transmittal Agreement; however, the letter did contend that "[u]pon expiration [of the Service Agreement], CCEA is not only legally not obligated to transmit dues, but cannot transmit member dues to NSEA per NSEA's own Bylaws." IV(641).

The CCEA/NSEA/NEA membership year began on September 1, 2017. VII(1126 ¶ 6). As it had done in years past, CCEA collected existing and new members' dues paid through payroll deduction, including the portion that satisfied the members' obligations to NSEA and NEA. VII(1127 ¶¶ 15-16). Nevertheless, CCEA refused to remit to NSEA the NSEA/NEA portion, despite acknowledging that those monies constituted NSEA and NEA membership dues. VII(1127-28 ¶ 17); see also II(287 ¶ 15); V(677 ¶ 15); V(685-90) (describing check details as "NEA & NSEA DUES COLLECTED FROM MEMBERS"); V(695-711) (cataloguing collection of NEA and NSEA dues); VII(1141) (explaining that CCEA is "merely escrowing collected dues of both" NSEA and NEA); VII(1144; 1146; 1152) (CCEA

Executive Board motion to "place the dues collected on behalf of NSEA in an escrow account"); VII(1229) (explaining "[t]he money is waiting to be sent to NSEA and NEA"). Instead of transmitting the dues to NSEA, CCEA held the money in a bank account over which it had control and indicated that it would release the monies to NSEA once the parties reached a new funding arrangement under the Service Agreement that was satisfactory to CCEA. II(287 ¶ 15); V(677 ¶ 15; 692-93; 834-36) (bank records showing dues held in CCEA business checking account).

On April 25, 2018, CCEA held a membership meeting at which a majority of members in attendance voted to disaffiliate from NSEA and NEA. VII(1061; 1269; 1275; 1284). CCEA gave NSEA and NEA notice of its disaffiliation the following day, stating that it "will no longer have any contractual relationship with NSEA and NEA." VII(1061).

III. The Parties' Consolidated Lawsuits

CCEA brought suit on September 12, 2017, claiming that NSEA had breached the NSEA Bylaws by failing to provide certain information to CCEA. I(21-31). This claim was premised on the NSEA Bylaws constituting a continuing contract between CCEA and NSEA as affiliated unions. I(26-27). CCEA also requested a declaratory judgment that its termination of the Service Agreement terminated its contractual duty to transmit NEA and NSEA dues to NSEA. I(27-29).

The NSEA Parties brought the action that is the subject of this appeal on September 21, 2017, alleging breach of contract, unjust enrichment, conversion, and fraud. I(53-66). At the heart of the parties' dispute is whether CCEA's collection of NSEA and NEA dues, but refusal to remit those dues to NSEA (and, by extension, to NEA) during the 2017-2018 school year, was unlawful. On the CCEA Parties' motion, the cases were consolidated on June 27, 2018. I(4).

On June 18, 2018, CCEA brought a motion for partial summary judgment in its suit (District Court Case No. A-17-761364), seeking a ruling that it terminated the Service Agreement and Transmittal Agreement effective August 31, 2017 and that it had no duty thereafter to collect NSEA and NEA dues or to transmit those dues to NSEA under those agreements. VI(1022-29). The district court granted CCEA's motion on December 20, 2018. VI(1018-29).

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