#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NEVADA STATE EDUCATION ASSOCIATION; NATIONAL EDUCATION ASSOCIATION; RUBEN MURILLO, JR.; ROBERT BENSON; DIANE DI ARCHANGEL; AND JASON WYCKOFF.

Appellants,

v.

CLARK COUNTY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION; JOHN VELLARDITA; AND VICTORIA COURTNEY,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Apr 03 2020 01:38 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court No. 79208

District Court Case No. A-17-761364-C (Consolidated with Case No. A-17-761884-C)

#### APPEAL

### From the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Kerry Earley

#### RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Andrew M. Jacobs
Nevada Bar No. 12787
Kelly H. Dove
Nevada Bar No. 10569

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

<u>Sixth</u>, the teacher-plaintiffs waived claims of unauthorized dues increases.

#### Standard of Review

This Court reviews factual findings for clear error and legal determinations *de novo*. *Edelstein v. Bank of New York Mellon*, 128 Nev. 505, 522, 286 P.3d 249, 260 (2012).

#### Argument

## I. CCEA Terminated the Dues Transmittal Agreement, and the District Court Was Correct To Rule That It Did.

The NSEA Parties admit CCEA terminated the Service Agreement, which concerns the same subject matter as the Dues Transmittal Agreement, attaches and refers to the Dues Transmittal Agreement, and is inextricably entwined with the Dues Transmittal Agreement. Their primary argument for keeping the teachers' \$4.1 million they did not earn is that CCEA had to separately terminate the Dues Transmittal Agreement but failed to do so. The NSEA Parties are wrong on both halves of that proposition. Terminating the Service Agreement necessarily terminates the Dues Transmittal Agreement. See Section I.A. And the CCEA took steps sufficient to constitute an independent termination of the Dues Transmittal Agreement. See Section I.B.

- A. Terminating the Service Agreement, CCEA Necessarily Terminated the Dues Transmittal Agreement.
  - 1. The District Court Was Right the Service Agreement Is Integrated With the Dues Transmittal Agreement.

Contracts may be connected and incorporated if they relate, or refer, to the same transaction, even where they do not expressly reference each other. This Court set forth that controlling rule in a case that the NSEA Parties do not cite or address. *See Haspray v. Pasarelli*, 79 Nev. 203, 208, 380 P.2d 919, 921 (1963) ("Two separate writings may be sufficiently connected by internal evidence without any express words of reference of one to the other. That they refer to the same transaction and state the terms thereof may appear from the character of the subject matter and from the nature of the terms.") (citing 2 Corbin, Contracts § 514).

Many other jurisdictions agree with this general principle of contract law. See, e.g., Nau v. Vulcan Rail & Construction Co., 286 N.Y. 188, 197, 36 N.E.2d 106, 110 (1941) (construing three separate writings as one contract and stating that "[e]ven though [the contracts] had been made at different dates, that fact would not affect the rule [to construe the documents as one] since they were to effectuate the same purpose and

formed a part of the same transaction."); Town of Cheswold v. Central Delaware Business Park, 2018 WL 2748372 \*6 (Del. June 8, 2018) ("Other documents or agreements can be incorporated by reference 'where a contract is executed which refers to another instrument and makes the conditions of such other instrument a part of it.' When that occurs, 'the two will be interpreted together as the agreement of the parties.") (quoting State v. Black, 83 A.2d 678, 681 (Del. Super. 1951)); Neville v. Scott, 127 A.2d 755, 757 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1957) ("Where several instruments are made as part of one transaction they will be read together, and each will be construed with reference to the other; and this is so although the instruments may have been executed at different times and do not in terms refer to each other."); Paine-Gallucci, Inc. v. Anderson, 41 Wash.2d 46, 50 (1952) ("[I]f it appears to the court that the entire agreement of the parties was made up of more than one written document, that such documents were made as parts of the same transaction, related to the same subject matter and were not inconsistent with each other, all of them may be considered together.").

The Service Agreement and Dues Transmittal Agreement are integrated on many levels, making it necessary to construe them

agrees terminated by August 31, 2017 expressly references and attaches as an addendum the Dues Transmittal Agreement. (IV AA 628, ¶1). Where a contract attaches and refers to another, courts often treat the latter as incorporated by reference in the former. Indeed, the attachment of the Dues Transmittal Agreement here exceeds Nevada standard's for treating a document as incorporated by reference. See Haspray, 79 Nev. at 208, 380 P.2d at 921 ("Two separate writings may be sufficiently connected by internal evidence without any express words of reference of one to the other. That they refer to the same transaction and state the terms thereof may appear from the character of the subject matter and from the nature of the terms.").

The Service Agreement contains within it the Dues Transmittal Agreement and thus the dues transmittal function, showing that both agreements are part of the self-same transaction and must be construed together. The NSEA Parties concede that the primary purpose of the Dues Transmittal Agreement – Addendum A to the Service Agreement – is to govern the collection and transmission of dues from CCEA to NSEA. (Opening Brief [herein by page, "Op.Br."] 25. As the portion of the Dues

Transmittal Agreement the NSEA Parties cite states, "[t]his agreement is entered into for the purpose of collecting and transmitting[] dues and membership data." (IV AA 623) (emphasis added). The Service Agreement and Dues Transmittal Agreement require the collection of dues in almost exactly the same language, each time describing CCEA's duty to collect, and stating that CCEA would be the agent for NSEA. The striking parallels are set forth here for reference:

SERVICE AGREEMENT	DUES TRANSMITTAL AGREEMENT (ATTACHED AS ADDENDUM A TO THE SERVICES AGREEMENT)
Duty to Transmit Dues:	Duty to Transmit Dues:
"CCEA agrees to transmit NSEA and NEA dues, and NSEA-TIP and NEA-PAC contributions to NSEA for each by the tenth business day following payroll deductions."  (IV AA 628, ¶1).	"The [CCEA] agrees to transmit or have transmitted to the NSEA on a monthly basis within ten (10) working days after the school district transmits payroll deductions check and membership list to the [CCEA], membership dues"  (IV AA 623, Sec. II.B.1).
CCEA, Authorized Collector:	CCEA, Authorized Collector:
NSEA to collect dues from	"The NSEA designates, and [CCEA] agrees to be its authorized agent for the purposes of collecting

members for	transmittal	to	and transmitting to NSEA and
NSEA." Id.			NEA dues and membership data
			from NSEA/NEA members who
			are also members of [CCEA]. The
			[CCEA] will collect or cause to be
			collected NSEA/NEA dues from
			NSEA/NEA members and will
			transmit or have transmitted all
			NSEA/NEA dues." <i>Id.</i> at Sec. 1.

The NSEA Defendants' idea that the two agreements can be pulled apart – with one viable and the other not – thus makes no sense.

2. The Service Agreement and Dues Transmittal Agreement Must Be Read As Operating Together To Avoid Absurd Results Under Their Plain Language.

The Service Agreement and its Addendum A must also be read together because they comprise a *quid pro quo* exchange between CCEA and NSEA. The Service Agreement sets forth the services that NSEA will provide to CCEA in exchange for the dues transmittal services provided by CCEA to NSEA, as set forth in in both the Service Agreement and the Dues Transmittal Agreement. The *quid pro quo* comes right at the outset of the Service Agreement. Its paragraph 1 states that CCEA will transmit dues to NSEA, and the immediately following paragraph 2 provides that in exchange, NSEA will transmit grants to CCEA. (IV AA

628, ¶¶1-2). This is the core and essence of the Service Agreement – services for dues.

Thus, there is no severing one from the other, and to argue otherwise would result in an absurdity, given the *quid pro quo* the agreements embody. See Eversole v. Sunrise Villas VIII Homeowners Ass'n, 112 Nev. 1255, 1260, 925 P.2d 505, 509 (1996) ("Contractual provisions should be harmonized whenever possible and construed to reach a reasonable solution."); Reno Club v. Young Inv. Co., 64 Nev. 312, 182 P.2d 1011 (1947) (holding that a contract should not be construed so as to lead to an absurd result).

Reading the Dues Transmittal Agreement as capable of surviving the termination of the Service Agreement flouts Nevada's canons of contract interpretation because it fails to give effect to both provisions – not only the covenant to pay dues, but the correlative covenant to provide services. See, e.g., Quirrion v. Sherman, 109 Nev. 62, 65, 846 P.2d 1051, 1053 (1993) ("[W]here two interpretations of a contract provision are possible, a court will prefer the interpretation which gives meaning to both provisions rather than an interpretation which renders one of the provisions meaningless."); Royal Indem. Co. v. Special Serv. Supply Co.,

82 Nev. 148, 150, 413 P.2d 500, 502 (1966) ("We first resort to general rules of contractual construction. Every word must be given effect if at all possible.").

The district court was thus correct to see the Service Agreement, which recites the necessity of paying dues and attaches and incorporates the Dues Transmittal Agreement, as a bilateral exchange of dues and services that cannot be severed and piecemealed as NSEA would wish it. See, e.g., Washoe Cty. Sch. Dist. v. White, 133 Nev. 301, 305, 396 P.3d 834, 839 (2017) (rejecting proposed contract interpretation that would have rendered term inapplicable and thus meaningless); Musser v. Bank of Am., 114 Nev. 945, 949, 964 P.2d 51, 54 (1998) ("A court should not interpret a contract so as to make meaningless its provisions.").

Because the parties' contract can only reasonably be understood as a mutual and bilateral exchange, this Court should affirm, as affirmance respects the existence of both NSEA's covenant to provide services and CCEA's covenant to pay for them. But that conclusion is even more inescapable in light of NSEA's acquiescence in the termination by its complete failure to provide any services after September 1, 2017, as explained next.

3. NEA and NSEA Cannot Deny the Termination of the Dues Transmission Agreement, Given Its Undisputed Failure to Provide Any Services After September 1, 2017.

The district court's unappealed factual finding that NSEA/NEA ceased to perform under the Service Agreement and Dues Transmittal Agreement on or after September 1, 2017 likewise dooms NSEA's and NEA's appeal. (VI AA 1027-28). The NSEA and NEA nowhere complain of or contest this finding. (See generally Op.Br.). And they are not allowed to contest it for the first time in reply. See Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 127 Nev. 156, 161 n.3, 252 P.3d 668, 672 (2011) ("Issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are deemed waived."); Bisch v. Las Vegas Metro Police Dep't, 129 Nev. 328, 333 n.2, 302 P.3d 1108, 1112 (2013) (same).

The undisputed fact that NSEA and NEA stopped performing altogether after September 1, 2017 dooms their appeal because it is elementary that you cannot sue to enforce a contract you have abandoned performing. It is Nevada law that a plaintiff's substantial performance of a contract is a condition precedent to bring a claim for breach. *Thompson v. Herrmann*, 91 Nev. 63, 68, 530 P.2d 1183, 1186 (1975) ("[I]f the performance falls short of being substantial, then the

promisor is entitled to no recovery." (citation omitted)). This rule is well-settled in American law, and other states agree. See, e.g., D.R. Horton, Inc.-Denver v. Bischof & Coffman, 217 P3d 1262, 1271 (Colo. Ct. App. 2009) ("[G]enerally, performance or substantial performance by the plaintiff is a condition precedent to the right to recover on the contract."); VRT, Inc. v. Dutton-Lainson Co., 530 N.W.2d 619 (1995) ("To successfully bring an action on a contract, a plaintiff must first establish that the plaintiff substantially performed the plaintiff's obligations under the contract.").

Another helpful way of understanding why the law will not let the NSEA Parties seek dues for a period when they did not perform is that it is a failure of mutuality. Under Nevada law, "[M]utuality of obligation' is synonymous with 'consideration,' so a contract that lacks 'mutuality of obligation' fails for 'want of consideration." *Fidelity & Deposit Co. of Md. v. Big Town Mechanical, LLC*, No. 2: 13-cv-00380-JAD-GWF, 2017WL 5165044, at \*2 (D. Nev. Nov. 7, 2017). So to the extent the NSEA Parties claim they are entitled to dues without services, they claim the existence of a contract that fundamentally and obviously lacks mutuality. But Nevada law is clear that "[m]utuality of obligation requires that unless

both parties to a contract are bound, neither is bound." Sala & Ruthe Realty, Inc. v. Campbell, 89 Nev. 483, 486-87, 515 P.2d 394, 396 (1973). So the NSEA Parties cannot refuse to perform services for the teachers and force the teachers to pay them \$4.1 million anyway. Such a claimed arrangement cannot be a binding contract. "[I]f it appears that one party was never bound on his part to do the acts which form the consideration for the promise of the other, there is a lack of mutuality of obligation, and the other is not bound." United Services Auto Ass'n v. Schlang, 111 Nev. 486, 491, 894 P.2d 967, 970 (1995) (citation omitted.) For all of these reasons, this Court should affirm.

4. The Cases The NSEA Defendants Cite To Argue That the Contracts Were Not Integrated Are Unavailing.

Finally, the cases the NSEA Parties cite do nothing to bolster their argument. The NSEA Parties primarily cite to three cases for the proposition that an agreement must use talismanic "incorporated herein" language to be effective, while ignoring and failing to cite binding Nevada law that expressly states the contrary. *See Haspray*, 79 Nev. at 208 ("Two separate writings may be sufficiently connected by internal evidence without any express words of reference of one to the other.").

The NSEA Parties cite Royer v. Baytech Corp., No. 3:11-CV-00833, 2012 WL 3231027, at \*4 (D. Nev. Aug. 3, 2012) for the proposition that the incorporating contract must "use language that is express and clear." However, the contract at issue in Royer actually had a "separation clause" that stated that "the parties' duties, obligations and responsibilities under the [additional writing] are separate from those under the Purchase Agreement." Id. Despite that separation clause, the court still found that the incorporation was "express and clear." In other words, despite the incorporating document's attempt to expressly disavow that the two writings were the same contract, the court still held that they were one contract.

The NSEA Parties also quote *R.W.L. Enters v. Oldcastle, Inc.*, for the proposition that separate writings will only be construed together if they are "so interrelated as to be considered one contract." (Op.Br. 23, citing 226 Cal. Rptr. 3d 677, 683 (Cal. Ct. App. 2017)). However, this case likewise states that the "contract need not recite that it 'incorporates' another document, so long as it 'guides the reader to the incorporated document." *Id.* (quoting *Shaw v. Regents of University of California*, 58 Cal. App. 4th 44, 54 (1997)). Such is the precise scenario here, as the

Service Agreement guides the reader to the attached the Dues Transmittal Agreement by expressly referencing it and attaching it as Addendum A.

Finally, the NSEA Parties cite *MMAWC*, *LLC v. Zion Wood Obi Wan Tr.*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 38, 448 P.3d 568, 572 (2019) for the proposition that, unless the agreement expressly uses the "incorporated herein" magic language, a document cannot be incorporated by reference. This Court said no such thing in *MMWAC*. While the facts in *MMAWC* concerned a settlement agreement that referred to a separate agreement that was "attached hereto and incorporated herein," this Court did not fashion a rule that the "incorporated here" language was a necessary prerequisite in every case to finding incorporation.<sup>1</sup>

## B. CCEA Properly Terminated the Dues Transmittal Agreement on August 3, 2017, Assuming It Even Required Separate Termination.

Notably, contract integration is not a prerequisite to finding contract termination here. The NSEA Parties argue at length that: (1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Bank of Columbia v. Patterson's Adm'r, 11 U.S. 299 (1813) and Acequia, Inc. v. Prudential Ins. Co. of Am., 226 F.3d 798 (7th Cir. 2000) are inapposite. The CCEA Parties have not argued that the creation of the Service Agreement "superseded or extinguished" the Dues Transmittal Agreement.

the district court concluded that the Service and Dues Transmittal Agreements were an integrated agreement; and (2) this specific "conclusion of law" formed the sole basis of the district court finding that CCEA properly terminated the Dues Transmittal Agreement when it terminated the Services Agreement. (See Op.Br. 22-26.)

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